UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA GRADUATE COLLEGE

USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA FOR SOURCING AND VERIFICATION: JOURNALISTIC PRACTICES IN PAKISTAN

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE FACULTY

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

By

UMER BILAL Norman, Oklahoma 2023

USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA FOR SOURCING AND VERIFICATION: JOURNALISTIC PRACTICES IN PAKISTAN

A THESIS APPROVED FOR GAYLORD COLLEGE OF JOURNALISM AND MASS COMMUNICATION

BY THE COMMITTEE CONSISTING OF

Dr. David Craig, Chair

Dr. Peter Gade

Dr. Robert Kerr

All Rights Reserved.

ACKNOWLEDEMENTS

I want to use this opportunity to thank all my committee members: chair, Dr. David Craig, members, Dr. Peter Gade and Dr. Robert Kerr for their valuable guidance and help.

I want to thank you Dr. David Craig (Chair) for bearing with me throughout this process and helping in the conceptualization. I faced many challenging situations during this entire process, and Dr. Craig remained patient throughout the time and guided me out of these situations.

I want to pay a very special thanks to Dr. Peter Gade who made a tremendous contribution to my research. He actively guided me, and his valuable feedback enabled me to polish my research work.

Dr. Gade is a big inspiration for me both as an instructor and as an individual. He was the first person to welcome me to the Gaylord College. Since then, I have found him extremely helpful both in my studies and in my personal life. I found him to be a great mentor and a very kind person.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	vi
Chapter I: Introduction	
Chapter II: Literature Review	
Hierarchy of Influences Model	5
Information Subsidy	
Sourcing and Verification before Digital Age	
Sourcing in the Digital Age	
Verification of Social Media Content	
Attitude for Social Media Use	
Media in Pakistan	
Chapter III: Method	
Variable Measures	
Chapter IV: Results	
Chapter V: Discussion	
Chapter VI: Conclusion	
References	
Appendix	
<u> </u>	

Abstract

The adoption of social media by journalists is in transitional phase, but the dependency on it for sourcing can have significant implications for the profession. With more reliance on social media for sourcing, journalists could end up handing over the power of agenda-setting to the sources. In addition, use of information from social media poses a huge challenge of its verification. This study examines the use of social media for sourcing and verification by Pakistani journalists. By using hierarchy of influences model, this study attempted to find the best predictors of use social media for sourcing. This study also explored different verification methods being adopted by Pakistani journalists to verify the content they find on social media platforms. The study found that journalists in Pakistan heavily rely on social media for sourcing and they also use social media for verification purposes. Twitter is being used for both sourcing and verification more than any other social media platform. Routines were the best predictors for using Twitter for sourcing purposes. The presence of organizational policy and reward system were the best predictors of using Facebook and Instagram for sourcing. This study also found that journalists use social media for purposes that represent information subsidy, which can affect the power relation between sources and journalists. For verification of social media content, journalists remain within the social networking sites and go outside using traditional methods and digital tools to authenticate the information. Positive attitude towards social media and trust contributed towards its use for sourcing and verification.

Chapter I: Introduction

Social media have enabled journalists to get valuable information they need to complete their jobs in daily routines and in a crisis-situation (Backholm et al., 2017). This practice of using social media is widely adopted by journalists and newsrooms and it serves various purposes related to organizational and personal goals such as developing a story, identifying leads and content, verification of the content, monitoring and keeping track of other media actors, finding eyewitness, and for marketing and promotion of the stories (Deprez & Van Leuven, 2018; Heravi & Harrower, 2016; Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016; Paulussen & Harder, 2014; Zhang & Li, 2020).

Media organizations across the globe are using social media for distribution of content and to reach audiences (Hermida, 2012). According to Hermida (2012) social media has changed the relationship between the producer and consumer of the news. Due to affordances of technology, media are not a one-way flow of information anymore, and the citizen along with journalists are playing their part in selection, distribution, and making sense of the events (Hermida, 2012). The introduction of technology is also influencing the sourcing process of journalists and changing the media landscape (Deprez & Van Leuven, 2018).

Social media platforms such as Twitter are being used for information gathering, especially in case of any unforeseen events (Moon and Hadley, 2014). Twitter is also used by journalists for promotion, sourcing, and monitoring other media (Johnson et al., 2019). Social media provides diverse information quickly and it is shaping the way news is gathered and transmitted, and it has become a part of journalists' contemporary toolkit (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). On the other hand, this adoption of social media has created many challenges for sourcing and verification processes such as assessing credibility and authenticity of information, filtering

vast amount of information, and the need to monitor multiple platforms at the same time when journalists lack skills and organizational guidelines about how to gather and validate content. (Backholm et al., 2017; Brandtzaeg et al., 2018; Deprez & Van Leuven, 2018; Fletcher et al., 2017; Zhang & Li, 2020). Journalists are immensely challenged by the sheer amount of information available on social media irrespective of whether it's true or not and they have to spend more time to decipher this information (Xu & Gutsche, 2020).

According to Kovach and Rosenstiel (2021) the verification process separates journalism from other forms of communication, and social media creates challenges for this verification process (Heravi & Harrower, 2016), and verification of social media content becomes more crucial in breaking-news scenarios when journalists are working under time pressure (Brandtzaeg et al., 2016). The information flood is coming from multiple social networking sites and journalists lacking in skills makes the process of verification more challenging, and journalists are reluctant to adopt social media as a platform which they can use to verify the information (Heravi & Harrower, 2016; Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016; Zhang & Li, 2020).

Heravi and Harrower (2016) noted that adoption of social media into news workflow is in transitional phase with journalists integrating it into workflow as a source but many of them are reluctant to use it due to lack of trust, intellectual property restrictions, privacy, and organizational guidelines. Their study further suggested that journalists still consider the authority sources as the most trusted for sourcing – relying on the reporters in the field, newswires, print media, and their own direct contact with individuals. To verify information available on social media, journalists tend to go outside these social networking sites to a real-world to check the veracity of information (Heravi & Harrower, 2016).

Gulyas (2017) conducted a survey in seven countries and found similarities in the use of social media by journalists for sourcing and interaction on social networking sites. There were also differences between these countries with some social networking sites being more popular than others, the purpose of using these social media sites, and the perception about the effects (Gulyas, 2017). Journalists who consider themselves social media savvy tend to use it more for sourcing and verification (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). There can be further differences in the use of social media depending on the type of media, type of reporting, and the country where the media is located (Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016). Journalists' use of social media depends on various variables, such as location, frequency and attitude towards these tools (Gulyas, 2013). Media type, time spent in journalism, and organization's size affect the use of social media in some context, but it does not give a complete explanation for its adoption by journalists (Gulyas, 2013).

Most of the research regarding social media's adoption by journalists and newsrooms have been done in Western countries. This study adds to the literature from a non-Western context because social media is pervasive and easily accessible in countries like Pakistan, but journalistic practices may differ than those of Western countries. There can also be differences in usage, perceptions, and utility of social media in Pakistani journalists' community.

The purpose of this study is to examine the extent to which journalists in Pakistan use social media for sourcing and what are the prevalent verification methods they use to verify the sources and content available on social media before including in their own reporting. As Gulyas (2017) found differences in journalists' practices from seven countries for using social media, this study explores the practices in a South Asian developing country where journalists have different level of journalism education, resources, training, and skills as compared to more

developed world. This study investigates the usage of social media by television and web journalists because they have more frequent deadlines and less time for investigation from traditional sources. The main themes study explores are to what extent social media is being used for sourcing by Pakistani journalists, what are the prevalent verification methods used to verify information found on social media, how social media is affecting journalistic practices, and relationship between attitude towards social media and its inclusion in journalistic practices.

This study is of scholarly significance for several reasons. Journalists do not show their trust on social media, but they continue to use it for sourcing (Zhang & Li, 2020). Trends on social media also become part of news which have affected the traditional practices of verification (Bouvier, 2019). Thus, it becomes important to examine the relationship between journalistic practices and use of social media when this use is shaping journalistic practices. Journalists use the online information to complement the traditional sources, but they face challenges to verify this information, and due to presence of fake accounts and fake news it is difficult to check the authenticity of the information (Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016; Zhang & Li, 2020). Researchers have addressed this question (e.g., Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016; Heravi & Harrower, 2016; Zhang & Li, 2020; Paulussen & Harder, 2014; Deprez & Van Leuven, 2018), but there is a need for further investigation on the influence of online information on news production (Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016). With an increase in social media's adoption, it is important to examine the effect on relationship between journalists and their sources, how the journalistic practices are being shaped by using social networking sites, what are main influences for adoption of social media for sourcing, and how journalists verify myriad of information found on social media sites.

Chapter II: Literature Review

Hierarchy of Influences Model

The theoretical framework which guides this study is Hierarchy of Influences model whereas adoption and inclusion of social media, as an outside factor, for work purposes affects the journalistic practices and the content journalists produce. Shoemaker and Reese (2014), in their Hierarchical Influences model, categorized the influences at five levels from macro to micro. The five levels social systems, social institutions, organizations, routines, and individuals have effects on constructing the social reality, and these levels affect the content independently and they also overlap influencing each other (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). For this study, using the Hierarchical Influences model, the author examines how social media are being adopted at different levels of analysis. This study focuses on social media influences at four levels of analyses: institutional, organizational, routines, and individual. The reason for omitting social system from the analysis is that the social media is an extra-media factor which operates outside geographical, ideological, and cultural boundaries.

At the social institutions level Shoemaker and Reese (2014) categorize the forces that are outside the media organization and can influence the content. At this level different institutions try to shape the media content, but the influence depends on the relative power of the institution in a society (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). At this level, media power lies outside the organizational setting and these extra-media factors like government, technology, and public relations effect influence the construction of social reality (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). Media sources influence the content at both routines level and social institutional level, but at the latter level the influence is more systematic and institutionalized (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014).

Officials such as Presidents, institutional sources such police, interest groups, and other media

organizations are sources that influence the content at institutional level (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014).

At the organizational level of analysis, Shoemaker and Reese (2014) argued that organizations can influence the content through different variables such as "ownership, policies, goals, actions, rules, memberships, bureaucratic structure, economic viability, and its stability" (p. 130). Employees working at different hierarchical levels in an organization have different perspectives which can influence the way content is shaped and policies made at the top level can override the routines to achieve organizational goals (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). All employees of an organization act as gatekeepers and consider the suitability of the news and how it will be received by superiors at different levels (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). For some stories, there can be a more visible control from the top management, and the decisions about these stories can be different from routine decisions (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). Organizations can affect the content through resource allocation, occupational culture, exercising interdepartmental power within an organization, owner's priorities, concerns about autonomy of journalists when it come into conflict with corporate goals, policy guidelines, and bias towards an interest (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014).

Routine level includes the practices that are commonly followed by large bodies of journalists (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). "Routines are patterned, routinized, repeated practices and forms that media workers use to do their jobs" (Shoemaker & Reese, 1996, p. 105).

Tuchman (1977) called routines as the upspoken knowledge of the occupation which so ingrained that that journalists might not be able to express them properly. The routines are adopted to perform the work more efficiently and those with greater mastery over these routines become professionally more valuable (Tuchman, 1997). Hirsh (1977) also argued in similar lines

and considered routines imposing professional standards on journalists to carry out daily tasks and providing a mechanism for checks-and-balances. Routines are instrumental in ensuring that media respond in expected ways and the set patterns are strictly followed (Shoemaker & Reese, 1996).

Shoemaker and Reese (2014) categorized sources of routines into three domains; "audiences, organizations, and suppliers of content" (p. 164). When media organizations know what audiences want then the content follows the choices of audiences, organizations make routines to make production process economical and efficient, and journalists work around the schedules of suppliers of content due to their dependency to get information (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014).

Routines help journalists to perform their daily tasks such as newsgathering, but the presence of these routines, practices, and constraints can also affect the choices journalists make (Shoemaker & Vos, 2009) and the content they produce (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). The routines can define some events as newsworthy and others as not newsworthy and can also affect the prioritizing an item (Tuchman, 1977; Tuchman 1978). Cottle and Ashton (1999) noted that adoption of technology to maximize output has impacted journalistic practices because journalists perceive it as an increased pressure to complete their work. Inclusion and use of technology in routines can also affect the gatekeeping process whereas traditionally journalists act as filters to pass and discard information (Shoemaker & Vos, 2009).

Shoemaker and Vos (2009) noted that political, governmental, and other sources can influence what gatekeepers should do. Cook (2006) argued that "news workers constitute only a small set of coauthors of the news, along with officials, experts, political activists, and, occasionally, person-on-the-street" (p. 169). There are different factors which can affect and

shape journalistic routines such as technology and media type (Shoemaker & Vos, 2009). For example, internet-based journalism has different routines because it accommodates the audiences differently (Shoemaker & Vos, 2009). Moon and Hadley (2014) noted that despite the adoption of social media, journalists still maintain the traditional routines of working around official sources, whereas Zhang and Li (2020) noted an integration of social media in sourcing and verification processes.

Individual level influence is comprised of the characteristics that a communicator poses, and these characteristics affect the content that is produced (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014).

Advancement in technology and changes in social relationships have changed the ways individuals can be identified, and now, a profession has less influence on how people identify themselves (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). Shoemaker and Reese (2014) argued that personal identities can influence the content such as in cases of partisan press. Shoemaker and Reese (2014) draw four categories that can affect the content at individual level; "personal demographic characteristics, backgrounds and experiences; current attitudes, values, and beliefs; background, roles, and experiences in professional context; and relative power within an organization" (p. 209).

Social media as an outside force affects the journalistic practices at the institutional level when journalists adopt it to make it work in their favor. It also affects journalistic practices because sources are also posting information on these social networking sites which journalists attend to. At the organizational level, various factors such policies and goals of an organization can influence the adoption and use of social media. Routines can also be another influence when journalists adopt social media to be more efficient in performing their job, finding story ideas,

and leads. Individual characteristics such as attitude towards social media and skill level can also play a role in the use of social media for sourcing and verification.

Information subsidy

Shoemaker and Reese (2014) considered sources as having huge impact on media content because they can provide easy access to information which is also less costly for journalists. So, another theoretical context that will guide the study is what Gandy (1982) termed as information subsidy. "Information subsidy is an attempt to produce influence over the actions of others by controlling their access to and use of information relevant to those actions" (Gandy, 1982, p. 61). An information subsidy increases the probability that journalists will tend to use it because of the time pressure and deadlines (Gandy, 1982). Because in the absence of a subsidy, more resource allocation would be required to gain the information, and subsidy provider gives the same information at less cost making it economically viable for journalists (Gandy, 1982).

Gandy (1982) argued that to achieve a goal, journalists may also be provided with information subsidies which can help in reducing the cost of news production and fulfilling the requirements of the organization. Just like a press release, social media posts and other available content on social networking sites provide easy and cheap access to information, and journalists might tend to use these information subsidies to complete their work tasks. Gatekeeper and sources benefit from each other, with sources get access to audience and gatekeepers get access to information (Shoemaker & Vos, 2009). Gandy (1982) equates relationship between gatekeepers and sources with traditional economic markets where journalists engage in these relationships of exchange to fulfil their work duties such as meeting deadlines, to fill the space in newspapers, and fill the time for radio and television. Journalists prioritize their relationships

with sources based on valuable information they provide, and those sources are preferred over others who have proven their reliability for correct information (Gandy, 1982).

Whitney (1981) noted that workload can also affect the choices of journalists, in underload situations journalists consider less news as newsworthy, whereas in overload situations less time is available for a news requiring further scrutiny. Time constraints compel newsrooms to rely more on routines (Whitney, 1981), and due to overload and time constraints social media, such as Twitter, can be an alternative information subsidy for journalists (Moon & Hadley, 2014). Bane (2019) also concluded with similar finding that "added pressure on alternative web-only journalists could push them to gather facts and information from social media when there is less time to conduct personal interviews with primary source" (p. 201). Zhang and Li (2020) found that "Journalists rely on ready-made data and convenient handy information sources, compared with other time-consuming investigative methods" (p. 1205). Heim (2021) noted that "smaller newspapers with fewer resources might be more inclined to draw upon social media as a substitute for original reporting" (p. 413).

The author examines whether journalists in Pakistan use social media platforms for the purposes that represent information subsidy to complete their work. Using social media as an information subsidy can further affect the content that is produced. Shoemaker and Vos (2009) argued that mediated messages that reach people change during the process of passing through different gates, and these messages can also be influenced by those who pass these messages to gatekeepers. Chibnall (1977) also argued how a reporter relies on the experiences of other people to construct the social reality making the relationship between reporter and their sources important. "By the time that copy reaches the sub-editor the most significant decisions have been made – events have occurred, they have been experienced, accounts of experiences have been

constructed for particular audiences, accounts of those accounts have been fashioned and these have either been stored away or transformed into fully-fledged news stories. At every stage selection and processing has taken place" (Chibnall, 1977, p. 7).

Sourcing and verification before digital age

Information from sources is most important for news-making because journalists rely on these in-direct experiences for reporting events, and sources' version of reality becomes important in deciding what will get media attention (Shoemaker & Vos, 2009). "If an editor merely follows someone else's lead in deciding how many messages should be created within topic categories, then the editor can make the selection decisions within each topic, but not between topics" (Shoemaker & Vos, 2009, p. 24). The relationship between reporter and sources gets complicated when latter attempts to get the irrelevant information into the story and when there is a direct conflict between the journalistic duty and interest of the source (Chibnall, 1975).

Tuchman (1978) used the term news net to describe how media outlets used to collect news by placing reporters geographically and at important locations around the cities. These locations were chosen because most the events of interest can be found there, and these locations can include "Municipal court, police headquarters, the Federal Court, and City Hall, where reporters' daily rounds bring them into contact with official meetings, press releases, and official documents such as the calendar of the Board of Estimate" (Tuchman, 1978, p. 256). Apart from these allocations of reporters, radio dispatches from different departments such as police and fire department were also monitored (Tuchman, 1978). Reporters were also given access to the information by these departments, but the placement of reporters and witnessing events themselves helped them to define different events as news (Tuchman, 1978). Stringers were also hired to alert the news media of events where reporters could not be fielded (Tuchman, 1978).

Stringers, reporters, and wire services provided most of the news, but the news media also used to send other reporters to the events to find new angles of the stories which were not covered by the wire services (Tuchman, 1978).

Many of the sources for news become available to journalists by working around their routines. Reporters relied on certain sources, such as official bureaucracies and institutions, more than others, and these sources became prevalent in mass media (Gandy, 1982). These sources helped in creating more stories in less time because investigative journalism required more time (Gandy, 1982). These sources acted as facilitators in the news production process and journalists tended to accept information as accurate from these sources which saves their valuable time (Gandy 1982). Press releases, press conferences, briefings, special breakfasts, and lunches were popular news sources for reporters (Gandy, 1982).

Media relied on speeches, interviews, corporate reports, or government hearings as their external suppliers of information (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). Information generated by public relations was another routine source but less transparent because these are not natural occurrences but created for a purpose (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). Information also came from informal briefings where the source may not like to be attributed, from leaks that are initiated by the source itself, and from bureaucratic structure of an organization (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). Journalists considered information from governmental channels more authoritative and economically viable as compared to other methods which required more effort and resource allocation (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). Livingston and Bennett (2003) noted an increase in the event-driven news, but it did not decrease the reliance on officials, and these were still part of news as much as before even in unpredictable events. "Officials in institutional settings produce press events, and journalists used live feed technologies to cover them with for added drama"

(Livingston & Bennett, 2003, p. 365). Journalists contact administrative officials and party spokespersons for news, and experts for putting an event into context (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014).

Newspapers got most of the content from reporters along with news agencies, but staff reporters gave the newspapers more control and stories that their competitors do not have (Hodgson, 1996). Reporters kept their contacts and call or visited different departments for newsgathering such as police, hospitals, local councils, and public services (Hodgson, 1996). Hodgson (1996) recommended reporters to check facts in reference books, archives, newspaper cuttings, or by telephone inquiry. Reporters verified information while covering the story by taking notes carefully and looking at evidence given during court proceedings, and talking to officials can also prove beneficial (Hodgson, 1996).

Sourcing in the digital age

In the digital age, the internet has made its place in journalistic routines for searching information and to keep an eye on the competition (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). Journalists use the online information for sourcing and developing news stories (Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016), and social media have become an important tool for information gathering, newsgathering, and monitoring purposes (Larsen, 2017; Lysak et al., 2012; Weaver & Willnat, 2016). Journalists use the networked environment in their favor to get access to the information otherwise hard to get, and the nature of social media allows journalists to track and retrieve that information to use in their reporting making it an addition to other available sources (Larsen, 2017).

Moon and Hadley (2014) found that journalists have adopted the social media tools in their reporting along with traditional sources, with television relying on Twitter more than newspaper, and both relying more on Twitter for soft news (Moon & Hadley, 2014). They also found that television relies more on Twitter as a direct source, while newspapers rely on Twitter more for soft news, and this can be due to the nature of the medium because newspapers have more time for further investigation. Overall, journalists have maintained their routine practices along with adoption of Twitter as a news source (Moon & Hadley, 2014). Journalists also use information found on social media platforms and apply various strategies to verify the content and source it is coming from (Brandtzaeg et al., 2016). The adoption of social media by journalists is an indication of its importance and an indication of changing attitudes towards social media (Heravi & Harrower, 2016).

Being an essential part in journalism workflow social media is used to source leads more than some traditional sources, but its full adoption is in transitional phase (Heravi & Herrower, 2016). A national survey conducted in Ireland with working journalists revealed that sourcing as the most common use of social media and two-thirds of them use social media daily for identifying leads and more than half of them use it for sourcing content (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). Social media platform Twitter is very popular amongst journalists and young people in Ireland, and journalists working for large organizations, online publications, and those who cover sports, science, and technology use it more frequently (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). Journalists who consider themselves social media savvy use it more often for sourcing and verifying information, but social media serves as an additional platform for sourcing rather than a separate platform (Heravi & Harrower, 2016).

Weaver and Willnat (2016) found that US journalists use social media for information gathering, finding ideas for stories, to remain in touch with the audience, keeping a check what other organizations are doing, and looking for a breaking-news event. Most journalists had

positive perception of use of social media in their work, but they also expressed fears of compromising accuracy over speed (Weaver & Willnat, 2016). Lysak et al. (2012) also concluded with similar findings where journalists rely on social media for newsgathering, but they were also skeptical about the value and reliability of the information.

Results from a survey of 255 journalists in Hong Kong suggested that journalists still rely on offline channels for sourcing and verification, with interview and press conference as the dominant method and social media serves a complementary tool (Zhang & Li, 2020). Journalists' primary sourcing is done from elite or established sources such as officials (Zhang & Li, 2020).

Heim (2021) did a content analysis of *New York Times, Washington Post, and USA Today* stories and concluded that Twitter will continue to supplement traditional sourcing methods. These news outlets mostly cited tweets of political figures' while tweets from non-official sources received the least representation, and it can be due to the reason that citing Tweets of officials might be a safer practice due to verified accounts and non-verified accounts can turn out to be imposters (Heim, 2021). Tweets from the citizens received representation only in 7.5 percent of the stories, and even for topics about politics and sports, reporters were interested in the comments from politicians and athletes rather than including views of public (Heim, 2021). A similar pattern was noted in the other beats and journalists included tweets from police and fire departments more than the tweets of victims and eyewitnesses (Heim, 2021). Heim (2021) also cautioned about the implications if tweets substitute the traditional reporting because journalists could lose their control over news agenda and public figures can manage the press without even facing them.

Knight (2012) analyzed the national British newspapers for the use of social media for sourcing in coverage of Iranian elections in 2009. Her study did not find a widespread use of

Largely, newspapers relied on official and established sources and only 29 percent of stories mentioned social media as a source (Knight, 2012). Knight (2012) also noted that newspapers did not identify the channel of communication for a sizable number of sources. Journalists used to tell how communication with source occurred but with the increased use of social media, they might not feel it necessary to identify every instance of communication that occurs using these tools (Knight, 2012). Paulussen and Harder (2014) also noted a low number of articles quoting sources from social media but journalists did consult social networking sites to keep themselves updated. Heravi and Harrower (2016) noted more reliance on authority sources by journalists because they put more trust on authority sources as compared to social media sources. Sourcing from social media does not remain at the same level all the time, it does fluctuate (Heravi & Harrower, 2016).

Johnson et al. (2019) called social media platform Twitter a 'press club' where journalists keep an eye on competition and also use it for promotional, conversational, and sourcing purposes. "About two-thirds of economic journalists under study used Twitter to share messages and links with their followers" (Johnson et al., 2019, p.325). Johnson et al. (2019) noted that journalists not only follow colleagues but also other groups such as politicians, government actors, business professionals, civil society, and economic experts. So, "Journalists use Twitter to monitor and network with colleagues and institutionally affiliated actors that can be suitable as sources for their news stories" (Johnson et al., 2019, p. 322). They described the journalists' following behavior as a proxy of their sourcing practices, and people followed by journalists are likely to influence them in the online environment. The more a journalist is active on Twitter the more likely they will be open to variety of sources (Johnson et al., 2019).

Journalists use social media to extend their reach to their sources, as Deprez and Van Leuven (2018) noted journalists use Twitter to connect and speed up their access to elite sources rather than using it to look for alternative sources. They investigated the "following" behavior of journalists which revealed top-down actors being overrepresented as compared to ordinary citizens. Journalists used Twitter mostly to monitor other journalists and media organizations to keep an eye on the competitors (Deprez & Van Leuven, 2018).

There can be differences in social media use depending on the media type, Bane (2019) found that web-only publications quoted Twitter sources in higher proportion 31% as compared to print publication 5%, but web-only publications quoted fewer official sources as compared to print publications. Print publications used Twitter quotes to supplement an article and web-only news organizations used it as an information and fact gathering tool (Bane, 2019). Bane (2019) mentioned three reasons for these differences: space limits in print medium, Tweets containing additional images or visuals and without them Tweets will not make sense, and difference in values between journalists from both types of organizations. Paulussen and Harder (2014) also argued that social media is not a dominant source of information in the newspapers' content and due to the credibility issues journalists prefer official sources.

Journalists prefer to use the social media accounts of people from their real-world network such as influential people and other media organizations which suggests that social media provides new ways of accessing information from elite sources instead of providing new sources (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). Deprez and Van Leuven (2018) also noted that journalists use Twitter to connect with trustworthy elite sources to increase their accessibility rather than looking for alternative sources. Lecheler and Kruikemeier (2016) also noted that journalists use online sources for searching but still show a strong tendency to consult elite sources. Deprez and

Van Leuven (2018) noted an overrepresentation for elite sources and underrepresentation for ordinary citizens when it comes to following someone on Twitter, and journalists consider ordinary citizens important to add a human perspective to the stories. Dylko et al. (2012) also found a domination of elites in sourcing and news production in online news.

The need to take information from social media can arise out of a sudden event,
Rauchfleisch et al. (2017) noted that journalists used user-generated content on Twitter during
the first hours of Brussels attack in 2016 which provided them on-site information and access to
material, Lecheler and Kruikemeier (2016) also noted a reliance on social media when there is no
direct access or when journalists report on soft news. Zhang and Li (2020) concluded that in the
news production process social media serves as a complementary tool not a dominant way of
gathering news.

According to Hermida (2013) networked communication space has affected the journalistic norms due to the hybridity of old and new approaches and have caused change in the previously held norms. Journalists placed Facebook as an active participant within the news ecosystem (Carlson, 2018), Parmelee (2014) found a relation between politicians' tweets and their subsequent use by journalists that suggested first and second level agenda building. Reporters noted the effect of tweets on their coverage of stories and selection of sources (Parmelee, 2014).

The literature suggests that journalists are adopting social for media sourcing in their daily routines and use it to perform their professional duties, but at the same time they have reservations about the credibility of information available on these platforms (Backholm et al., 2017; Deprez & Van Leuven, 2018; Heravi & Harrower, 2016; Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016;

Paulussen & Harder, 2014; Zhang & Li, 2020). This inclusion of social media into routines can affect journalistic practices and the content they produce.

Verification of social media content

Social media platforms provide a huge quantity of information through organic and inorganic means and journalists need skills and competence to use this information (Larsen, 2017). Brandtzaeg et al. (2018) found that journalists relied on manual processes to verify information they find online and lacked awareness about the available resources for fact-checking. In addition, they also suggested that there is no standard method to verify information from social media and journalists run the risk of spreading unverified information. Rauchfleisch et al. (2017) considered the editorial guidelines insufficient to guide journalists how to source and verify information during a crisis-situation. Journalists see the available verification tools promising and depending on them in the future, but they are also skeptical of losing control to a third-party and concerned about the reliability of the services of a third-party.

Results from a national survey in Ireland revealed that half of the journalists do not use social media for verification, and they turn to other methods for this purpose showing their reluctancy to use this platform for verification purposes (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). To validate social media content, journalists tend to consult the official sources and network outside the social media (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). Zhang & Li (2020) found that "cross-checking is conducted via interviews, data released by credible authorities, colleagues, and other news organizations" (p. 1205). They also found an inverse relationship between using social media for verification and verifying information using traditional methods. In China, journalists tend to rely on offline verification of sources and information due to the presence of fake news on online platforms (Xu & Gutsche, 2020).

Rauchfleisch et al. (2017) studied how journalists used the user-generated-content during the Brussels attack and found journalists used Twitter to get information because it provided them quick access, and many journalists did not verify the content and authenticity of the pictures and information. They have found that most of the journalists only asked for the right to use the information and did not ask about the ownership or location of the source. Most of the tweets used were from media professionals but the content was never verified (Rauchfleisch et al., 2017).

Fletcher et al. (2017) noted that traditional verification strategies may not be able to cope with the information available on social media platforms. Pressure of deadlines on journalists working with web-only publications can also push them to rely on and gather facts from social media when there is less time to crosscheck with the primary source (Bane, 2019). Boczkowski (2009) found that difference in speed of the journalists' work also shapes the experience of time, where journalists think of a story as having a short life cycle and they want to report and update it as quickly as possible due to competition. When timeliness does not shape newsworthiness, then journalists have more time for research and to interview sources (Boczkowski, 2009). Boczkowski (2009) noted a higher level of stress in journalists who were facing temporal pressure as compared to those who had fewer deadlines and longer period to complete the stories. Boczkowski (2009) also noted that temporal constraints left journalists with little time for traditional sourcing and journalists without temporal constraints followed conventional sourcing practices.

There have been attempts to measure the credibility of a social media account using its profile metrics, but this credibility score is not useful for news, consequently, journalists try to measure the credibility of social media accounts from the profile and number of followers

(Fletcher et al., 2017), which again does not guarantee for obtaining accurate information. The researchers have concluded that "contributors can be imbued with credibility if they are followed by other credible contributors, thus demonstrating a relational dimension to credibility assessment" (Fletcher et al., 2017, p. 30). Constant stream of data and information make it difficult for journalists to reach the original creator of the that information (Backholm et al., 2017). During a crisis-situation, a user-friendly tool can help journalists by collecting information from multiple platforms, but journalists lack trust on algorithms, thus keeping the decision-making about content's trustworthiness as a manual work (Backholm et al., 2017). Heravi and Harrower (2016) also noted the patterns for verification where half of the respondents do not use social media for verifying information and they chose other methods for this purpose. For verification of the content on social media, journalists again rely on the traditional sources, and they use the official sources and contacts outside the social media (Heravi & Harrower, 2016).

To investigate what verification method journalists are using to verify information they find on social media, Brandtzaeg et al. (2016) came up with five different categories. These categories are "(1) using/following trusted sources, (2) accessing eyewitnesses and authentication of sources, (3) using traditional journalistic methods, (4) Multimodal verification and verification tools, and (5) work around methods such as including a disclaimer" (Brandtzaeg et al., 2016, p. 328). They found that journalists are relying on both traditional methods and advanced online verification tools to verify text, images, videos, and sources. Fletcher et al. (2017) argued about the importance of adopting digital tools which can help in getting credible information, this study will use five categories developed by Brandtzaeg et al. (2016) to see if journalists in Pakistan use any of them or all of them.

Attitude and social media use

Inclusion of social media into journalistic practices is in transitional phase with journalists considering it having a positive impact on their work, but they are reluctant to use it for verification purposes (Heravi & Harrower, 2016; Weaver & Willnat, 2016). Weaver and Willnat (2016) found in their study that most of the journalists reported a positive impact of social media on their work, and a very low percentage of journalists reported negative impact. Heravi and Harrower (2016) found that Journalists have integrated social media into their work for sourcing and gathering a lot of information using it, but at the same time they are reluctant to trust it for verification. In the survey, only 12% of the respondents stated that social media can be trusted and most of the journalists, especially older and having more professional experience, still consider authority sources as the most trusted (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). Young journalists put more trust on social media, and journalists covering sports, science, and technology use it more frequently (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). Journalists belonging to larger organizations and those working for online publications use social media more frequently (Heravi & Harrower, 2016). Heavy use of social media is also related to trust on the medium and those who use social media more frequently are likely to trust it (Heravi & Harrower, 2016) and those who show more trust on social media are likely to use it more for sourcing and verification (Zhang & Li, 2020).

Despite their apprehensions about the effect of social media on professionalism, journalists continue to use it for sourcing (Zhang & Li, 2020). The heavy users of social media for sourcing and verification were less likely to verify the information by a traditional method of interview (Zhang & Li, 2020). And "the more journalists believe that social media is a reliable news source, the more likely the journalists will use social media for sourcing and verification" (Zhang & Li, 2020, p. 1206).

Media in Pakistan

Since 1947, broadcast media was dominated by the state and Radio Pakistan being the main source of information and entertainment until Pakistan Television was launched in 1964 (Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority, 2020). Siraj and Hussain (2017) found that in the early 2000s, one state-controlled television and dozens of radio stations were functional in Pakistan, but the economic boom in telecom industry, commercialization, and globalization were the main factors that compelled the then government to allow more media organizations to operate in Pakistan. According to the annual report of Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority (2020) 106 satellite television licenses were issued, and amongst them 30 are news and current affairs, 40 are entertainment, 22 are regional languages. There were 257 FM radio licenses issued and among them 196 are commercial and 61 are non-commercial (Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority, 2020). The regulatory body for broadcast also issued 43 landing rights permissions, 6 mobile TV service licenses, 11 internet protocol TV licenses, one direct-to-home, and 4062 cable TV licenses (Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority, 2020). On the print side, All Pakistan Newspapers society (n.d.) has 437 member publications which include daily, weekly, fortnightly, and monthly newspapers which are published in Urdu, English, and various local languages.

After the new players joined the broadcast sector, the infrastructure of the media industry improved in terms of technology, more skilled workers, and media education (Siraj & Hussain, 2017). Siraj and Hussain (2017) found that Pakistani media industry is dominated by private ownership, and majority of workers were males and mostly covers political news. Gul et al. (2017) found six groups as dominant players in Pakistani media industry which were Jang/Geo, Nawa-i-Waqt, Dawn, Lakson/Express, Daily Times, and ARY.

Siraj and Hussain (2017) presented factors that influenced journalistic autonomy in Pakistan which were both external and internal to organization such as state, advertising, ownership, laws, editorial policy, and supervisors. They termed the relationship between government and media as a hate and love relationship. Rasul and Proffitt (2013) argued that the regulatory body for broadcast media failed to achieve its goal of creating a diverse media, and it has worked as tool for government to pressurize the hostile media. According to its annual report, Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority (2020) issued 335 show cause notices, 118 pieces of advice, 20 warnings, and imposed 23,100,000 PKR fines on various satellite channels during the years 2019 and 20.

Despite having a vibrant media, journalists in Pakistan face continuous threats in various forms, Reporters without Borders (2023) ranked Pakistan 150th out of 180 countries on its press freedom index and declared it as one of the deadliest countries for journalists. International Press Institute (2023) documented 35 press freedom violations in Pakistan during the six months from October 2022 to March of 2023. State and non-state actors influence the media (Yusuf & Schoemaker, 2013), government curb the press freedom through laws and trying to buy allegiances of journalists and news outlets (Mezzera & Sial, 2010). On the journalistic autonomy, Siraj and Hussain (2017) found that higher management such as editors enjoy more autonomy as compared to the lower staff.

From the literature above, the author has formulated the following research questions and hypotheses.

RQ1: To what extent do Pakistani journalists use social media for sourcing?

RQ2: To what extent Pakistani journalists use social media as the only source in their stories?

RQ3: For popular social media platforms, which Hierarchy of Influences concepts predict journalists' use for sourcing?

RQ4: To what extent do Pakistani journalists use social media for verification?

RQ5: What are the verification strategies and tools do Pakistani journalists use to verify the information found on social media?

RQ6a: Is there a relationship between attitude towards social media and use of social media for sourcing?

RQ6b: Is there a relationship between attitude towards social media and use of social media for verification?

RQ7: Do journalists facing greater workload pressures use social media more for sourcing?

RQ8: Do journalists in Pakistan use social media for sourcing which represent information subsidy?

H1: In the breaking-news scenario, journalists will rely more on social media for sourcing.

H2: Those journalists who rely more on social media for sourcing are more likely to use it for verification purposes.

H3a: Journalists covering soft news are more likely to use social media for sourcing than the journalists covering the hard news.

H3b: Journalists covering soft news are more likely to use social media for verification than the journalists covering the hard news.

H4a: The higher the trust of journalists in social media, the higher the use of social media will be for sourcing by journalists.

H4b: The higher the trust of journalists in social media, the higher the use of social media will be for verification by journalists.

H5a: Journalists who perceive themselves to be more skillful in using social media will use it more for sourcing.

H5b: Journalists who perceive themselves to be more skillful in using social media will use it more for verification.

H6a: The higher the age of journalists, the less likely they will use social media for sourcing.

H6b: The higher the age of journalists, the less likely they will use social media for verification.

Chapter III: Method

This study used the survey instrument containing 90 statements excluding question about demographics (see Appendix) and sent it to seven news organizations operating in Pakistan. Research questions sought answers to broader journalistic practices related to the use of social media for sourcing and verification of the content found on these social media platforms. A survey method was appropriate to collect information from a larger number of participants to investigate the integration of social media into journalistic practices. In previous studies, researchers have used the survey method to investigate the journalistic practices related to social media (e.g., Heravi & Harrower, 2019; Zhang & Li, 2020). Wimmer and Dominick (2014) stated that a survey methodology can be appropriate to explore the existing situation and attitudes, and it can also help in explaining these situations such as relationships between variables. This survey also explores the relationship between attitude towards social media and its use for sourcing and verification. Wimmer and Dominick (2014) mentioned several advantages of surveys and some of them are applicable to this study such as investigating patterns in natural settings, cost effectiveness as this survey was online, collecting large amount of data, and no geographical limitations as this survey was conducted with Pakistani journalists.

The survey was sent to six Pakistani television news channels operating at national level and one British digital franchise, The Independent Urdu, a web news outlet operating inside Pakistan in the national language of the country. Gallup Pakistan (2012) ranked these Pakistani television news channels in a top 10 list based on their reach. Other television channels in the list were excluded because they were either state television or operating as a local channel.

Due to unwillingness of media organization to share the contact information of their employees, this study adopted the purposive sampling, and the survey was distributed through

contact persons known to the researcher. This study has used the name Twitter (now it is called X) because name changing happened after the distribution of the survey and the name Twitter was used in the survey instrument.

Variable measures

The survey was designed to explore uses of social media for sourcing, and it also included statements that allowed measuring influences accounted for use of social media for sourcing using Hierarchy of Influences model as a theoretical framework. The survey also included statements to explore whether journalists use social media for verification purposes and what methods they deploy to verify the content found on social media. To explore verification methods, five categories developed by Brandtzaeg et al. (2016) were used to guide the survey statements. Statements were included to measure the attitude and workload pressures faced by the participants. An intensity scale was used, and respondents were asked to record their level of disagreement and agreement on a 7-point Likert scale.

The survey asked several statements for each level of Hierarchy of Influences model to measure the influences on social media use. At the institutional level influences two constructs were created to measure the influences, and six statements were indexed to create a new variable measuring the influence of institutional sources (Cronbach alpha = .863), and six statements were indexed to create a new variable measuring inter-media agenda and market competition (Cronbach's alpha = .867). At organizational level two constructs were created to measure influences, and five statements were indexed to create a new variable measuring organizational policy and rewards (Cronbach alpha = .691), and three statements were indexed to measure the role of economy (Cronbach's alpha = .511). At routines level, one construct was created to measure influences and eight statements were indexed to create a new variable measuring

influence at routines level (Cronbach's alpha = .869). To measure the use of social media for sourcing, five statements were combined to create a new variable (Cronbach alpha = .629).

To measure the use of social media for verification, five statements were indexed to create a new variable (Cronbach's alpha = .773). This study used the five categories developed by Brandtzaeg et al. (2016) for verification of the social media content and the survey included several statements related to these categories. Two statements were indexed to create a news variable measuring the use of "trusted sources" (Cronbach alpha = .618), four statements were indexed to create a new variable for "accessing eyewitnesses and authenticating sources" (Cronbach's alpha = .726), four statements were indexed to create a new variable for using "traditional methods" (Cronbach's alpha = .520), and two statements were indexed to create a new variable measuring use of "verification tools" (Cronbach's alpha = .902). For the fifth category of "workaround methods", one statement was included in the survey.

To measure the attitude towards social media, four statements were indexed to create a new variable (Cronbach's alpha = .766). To measure the workload pressures, three statements were indexed to create a new variable (Cronbach's alpha = .697).

Chapter IV: Results

The survey was sent to approximately 483 journalists and 226 returned the survey. After deleting those which were incomplete or missing a large quantity of data149 responses were analyzed, which gives an approximate response rate of 30.85%. The numbers are approximate because the survey was distributed by contact persons working in media organization. An effort was made by the author to get the exact number from all the contact people but a few of them were unable to give the exact number. The responses received were largely from television news channels (88.6%) and few from news website (5.4%), with 46.1% working as reporters and 53.9% working in newsrooms in different capacities such as copy editor, assignment editor, news producer, and news anchorperson. There were 79.2% males, 15.4% females, and 5.4% respondents did not mention gender. The age of the respondents ranged from 21 to 67 years with a mean of 39.70. Experience ranged from one year to 41 years with a mean of 16.17. For education, 67.8 percent of the respondents reported having a master's degree.

RQ1: To what extent do Pakistani journalists use social media for sourcing?

The descriptive results indicate that journalists in Pakistan do use social media for sourcing purposes and some platforms were more popular than other. Twitter stands out from the list of social media platforms mentioned in the survey where 82.8% of the respondents agreed that they use Twitter for sourcing purposes, 14.5% disagreed, and 2.7% neither disagreed nor agreed for using it for sourcing purposes. For using Facebook for sourcing purposes, 60.6% of respondents agreed, 30.7% disagreed, and 8.7% neither disagreed nor agreed. For YouTube, 55.6% of the respondents agreed to use it for sourcing purposes, 28.2% disagreed, and 16.2% neither disagreed nor agreed. For Instagram, 31.9% respondents agreed that they use it for sourcing purposes, 55.6% disagreed, and 12.5% neither disagreed nor agreed. Respondents were

also asked if they use any other social media for sourcing purposes which was not mentioned in the list provided to them. For this, 74.8% of respondents agreed that they use other social media platforms for sourcing purposes, 18.2% disagreed, and 7% neither disagreed nor agreed.

Table 1. Do you use the following social media for sourcing purposes? (1 = Strongly disagree; 7 = Strongly agree)

Social media platform	Agree (%)	Disagree (%)	M	SD	N
Twitter	82.8	14.5	5.46	1.65	145
Facebook	60.6	30.7	4.40	1.69	137
YouTube	55.6	28.2	4.43	1.72	142
Instagram	31.9	55.6	3.39	1.77	135
Other social media	74.8	18.2	5.06	1.67	143

RQ2: To what extent do Pakistani journalists use social media as the only source in their stories?

The descriptive results indicate that journalists in Pakistan do not use social media as the only source in their news. For Twitter, 61.9% of the respondents disagreed that they use it as the only source, 34.5% agreed, and 3.6% neither disagreed not agreed. For Facebook, 73.1% of the respondents disagreed that they use it as the only source, 23.1% agreed, and 3.8% neither disagreed nor agreed. For YouTube, 73.9% of the respondents disagreed that they use it as the only source, 20.1% agreed, and 6% neither disagreed nor agreed. For Instagram, 79.4% of the respondents disagreed that they use it as the only source, 13% agreed, and 7.6% neither disagreed nor agreed. For other social media platforms and their use as the only source in news, 57.2% disagreed, 33.3% agreed, and 9.5% neither disagreed nor agreed to it. This result demonstrates that journalists in Pakistan do not consider social media sources sufficient and include information obtained from other sources in their news along with social media sources.

RQ3: For popular social media platforms, which Hierarchy of Influences concepts predict journalists' use for sourcing?

To measure the best predictors for use of popular social media platforms for sourcing, variables at four levels of Hierarchy of Influences Model were entered in a theoretical sequence from macro to micro (see Table 2). The first block uses two measures of institutional influences; institutional sourcing, and inter-media agenda and market competition. The second block uses two measures of organization influences; policy and reward for using social media, and economic reasons for using social media. The third block contains measure of routines, and fourth block contains demographics as individual influences on social media use.

After entering variables of Hierarchy of Influences from macro to micro, four regression models were obtained representing each dependent variable; use of Twitter for sourcing, use of Facebook for sourcing, use of YouTube for sourcing, and use of Instagram for sourcing.

For use of Twitter for sourcing, the model explained 11% of the total variance and routines was the only significant predictor of Twitter use for sourcing. The positive beta weight indicates a positive relationship between routines and use of Twitter for sourcing purposes. In other words, journalists have incorporated Twitter for sourcing purposes in their daily routines and they use it to complete their journalistic work. This result indicated that journalistic routines encourage journalists to use Twitter for sourcing purposes.

For use of Facebook for sourcing, the model explained 11.9% of the total variance and policy and reward, and skills were significant predictors of Facebook use for sourcing. The positive beta weights for both independent variables indicate a positive relationship with Facebook use for sourcing. In other words, journalists working with organizations that have a policy and reward system for using social media use Facebook more for sourcing than those journalists working with organizations that do not have a policy and reward system. Or journalists working with those organizations that do not have policy and reward systems for

using social media use Facebook for sourcing less than those journalists working with organizations that have a policy and reward system. This result indicates that policy and reward system at organizational level encourages use of Facebook for sourcing purposes.

TABLE 2

Regression Models – Standardized Beta Weights and R² for Institutional Sourcing, Intermedia Agenda and Market Competition, Policy and Reward, Routines, and Demographics on use of Twitter, Facebook, YouTube, and Instagram for sourcing.

Variables	Twitter	Facebook	YouTube	Instagram	
Institutional Sourcing	.219	.199	.119	.072	
Intermedia Agenda and Market Competition	095	076	200	186	
Policy and Reward	.101	.242*	009	.350**	
Economy	126	.147	.154	.179	
Routines	.297*	006	.068	070	
Experience Skills Gender Age Education	.082 .123 .036 .014 .157	023 .249* 143 .027 .061	006 210 044 .032 144	.038 .088 028 236 123	
Cumulative Adjusted R ²	.11	.119	.012	.103	
N	145	137	142	135	
$p \le 0.05 *p \le 0.01 *p \le 0.01$					

At individual level, skill was a significant predictor of Facebook use for sourcing. The positive beta weight indicates that skills have a positive relationship with Facebook use for sourcing. In other words, journalists with more skills to use social media use Facebook more for

sourcing than those journalists with less skills. Or journalists with less skills to use social media use Facebook less for sourcing purposes. This result indicates an influence at individual level for use of Facebook for sourcing.

For use of YouTube for sourcing, the model explained 1.2% of the variance and none of the variables from Hierarchy of Influences was significant. For use of Instagram for sourcing, organizational policy and reward were the significant predictors and the model explained 10.3% of the total variance. The positive beta weight indicates a positive relationship between organizational policy and reward, and use of Instagram for sourcing. In other words, journalists working with organizations that have a policy and reward use Instagram more for sourcing than those journalists working with organizations without a policy and reward. Or journalists working with organizations that do not have policy and reward system use Instagram less for sourcing than those journalists working with organizations that have a policy and reward system. This result indicates that policy and reward at organizational level influences the use of Instagram for sourcing purposes.

RQ4: To what extent do Pakistani journalists use social media for verification?

The descriptive results provide a mixed picture of using social media for verification purposes by Pakistani journalists. Pakistani journalists are using Twitter for verification clearly more than any other platform. Nearly 3 of 4 respondents reported using Twitter to verify the information, while less than half reported using popular social media Facebook and YouTube.

Table 3. Do you use the following social media for verification purposes? (1 = Strongly disagree; 7 = Strongly agree)

Social media platform	Agree (%)	Disagree (%)	M	SD	N
Twitter	73.9	22.5	4.90	1.74	142
Facebook	44.7	48.2	3.76	1.74	141
YouTube	43	47.9	3.76	1.72	142
Instagram	29.6	52.1	3.46	1.66	142
Other social media	56.9	31.9	4.41	1.69	144

And fewer than a third reported using Instagram for verification of information. More than half of the journalists reported using other social media platforms platform for verification which were included in the provided list.

RQ5: What verification strategies and tools do Pakistani journalists use to verify the information found on social media?

To answer this question, five categories for verification of social media content developed by Brandtzaeg et al. (2016) were used in the study. These categories for verification included (a) "using trusted sources", (b) "accessing eyewitness and authenticating sources", (c) "using traditional journalistic methods", (d) "multimodal verification and verification tools", and (e) "work around methods" (p. 328). Journalists in Pakistan reported using all these five categories to verify the information they find on social media. Journalists reported mostly using the category of accessing eyewitness and authenticating sources, followed by using traditional methods to verify information, multimodal verification and verification tools, by following trusted source, and workaround methods respectively.

More than 90% of the respondents reported turning to contacting eyewitnesses through social media, trying to identify the source of information, cross-checking social media information using Google search engine, or cross-checking if other credible news organizations have used the same information as their strategy to verify the information. More than 85% of the journalists reported turning to traditional methods to verify the social media information such as contacting the concerned person through email, phone, or talking face-to-face, or relying on the journalistic common sense about the veracity of information. More than 75% of the journalists reported using digital tools to verify the photos and videos they find on social media. More than

70% percent of journalists reported that they only follow verified accounts or use information only from the social media sources they know as their strategy to report correct information.

More than 60% of journalists reported that they put a disclaimer on unverified information to let the audience know that the information could not be verified.

Table 4. Do you use the following methods to verify the information found on social media platforms? (1 = Strongly disagree; 7 = Strongly agree).

Deployed strategy	Agree (%)	Disagree (%)	M	Sd	N
Accessing eyewitness					
and authenticating sources	91.8	5.2	5.66	.91	134
Using traditional					
journalistic methods	88.7	9	5.25	.90	133
Multimodal verification					
and verification tools	78.8	13.6	5.26	1.45	132
Using trusted sources	73.9	12.7	5.30	1.36	134
Workaround methods	64.4	16.7	4.96	1.69	132

RQ6a: Is there a relationship between attitude towards social media and use of social media for sourcing?

A Pearson correlation test was run to check the relationship between attitude towards social media and use of social media for sourcing. A significant positive correlation was found (r (116) = .34, p < .001) between positive attitude towards social media and its use sourcing purposes. This result means if journalists have positive attitude towards social media, they are more likely to use it for sourcing purposes or if they do not have a positive attitude towards social media, they are less likely to use it for sourcing purposes.

RQ6b: Is there a relationship between attitude towards social media and use of social media for verification?

To answer this question, a Pearson correlation test was run to check the relationship between attitude towards social media and use of social media for verification. A significant positive correlation was found (r(131) = .47, p < .001) between positive attitude and verification

from social media. This result indicated that if journalists have positive attitude towards social media, they are more likely to use it for verification purposes, or if journalists do not have a positive attitude towards social media, they are less likely to use it for verification purposes.

RQ7: Do journalists facing greater workload pressures use social media more for sourcing?

An independent-samples t-test was calculated to compare means of groups that reported low level of workload pressure (n = 15) and those that reported high level of workload pressure (n = 120). A significant difference (t (115) = -2.223, p = .028) was found between the means of two groups. The mean of respondents facing low level of workload pressures (M = 3.94, sd = .81) was significantly different from respondents facing higher level of workload pressures (M = 4.62, sd = 1.07). This result indicates that journalists who face more workload pressure are more likely to use social media for sourcing as compared to journalists facing low level of workload pressures, or journalists facing low level of workload are less likely to use social media for sourcing as compared to journalists facing higher level of workload pressures.

RQ8: Do journalists in Pakistan use social media for sourcing that represent information subsidy?

To measure information subsidy, three statements were indexed which measured the role of social media in increasing efficiency for work, providing easy access to information, and saving time to complete the job (Cronbach Alpha = .651) to create a new variable. The descriptive analysis (n = 145) revealed that 77.2% of the respondents agreed that they use social media for sourcing because it increases their efficiency, provides easy access to information, and saves time to complete the job. This result indicates that use of social media for sourcing serves as an information subsidy for journalists in Pakistan.

H1: In the breaking-news scenario, journalists will rely more on social media for sourcing.

To test this hypothesis an independent-samples t-test was calculated to compare means of social media use for sourcing by journalists. Journalists were divided into two groups facing no breaking-news scenario (n = 22) and high breaking-news scenario (n = 71). Those journalists who were neutral toward facing breaking-news scenario or did not respond to question were excluded from analysis. A significant difference was found (t (91) = -2.358, p = .021). The mean of respondents facing no breaking-news scenario (M = 4.17, sd = .95) was significantly different from respondents facing higher breaking-news scenario (M = 4.77, sd = 1.07). The results indicate that in breaking-news scenarios journalists are more likely to use social media for sourcing purposes. The results support the H1.

H2: Those journalists who rely more on social media for sourcing are more likely to use it for verification purposes.

To test this hypothesis, a Pearson correlation test was run to check the relationship between social media use for sourcing and using social media for verification purposes. A positive correlation was found (r(127) = .443, p < .001) between use of social media for sourcing and using it for verification purposes. The more journalists use social media sourcing, the more they are likely to use it for verification purposes. H2 is supported by results.

H3a: Journalists covering the soft news are more likely to use social media for sourcing than the journalists covering the hard news.

To test this hypothesis, an independent-samples t-test was run to compare the means of journalists covering the hard news; politics, crime, economy (n = 31) and soft news; culture, entertainment, sports, and science (n = 14) for using social media for sourcing purposes. There was no significant difference was found (t (43) = .416, p = .679). The mean of journalists covering hard news (M = 4.41, sd = 1.38) was not significantly different from journalists

covering soft news (M = 4.24, sd = .95) for social media use for sourcing. H3a was not supported. The reason for a small sample for this hypothesis is that 65 out of 149 respondents were reporters. So, hypothesis test accounts for about 40% of the data.

H3b: Journalists covering the soft news are more likely to use social media for verification than the journalists covering the hard news.

To test this hypothesis, an independent-samples t-test was run to compare the means of journalists covering the hard news; politics, crime, economy (n = 35) and soft news; culture, entertainment, sports, and science (n = 15) for using social media for verification purposes. There was no significant difference was found (t (48) = .995, p = .325). The mean of journalists covering hard news (M = 3.69, sd = 1.29) was not significantly different from journalists covering soft news (M = 3.32, sd = .99) for social media use for verification. The mean of both the groups is lower than 4, which is the neutral point on the measuring scale, meaning that both groups of journalists covering hard and soft news do not use social media for verification purposes. H3b was not supported. The reason for a small sample for this hypothesis is that 65 out of 149 respondents were reporters. So, hypothesis test accounts for about 40% of the data.

H4a: The higher the trust of journalists in social media, the higher the use of social media will be for sourcing by journalists.

To test this hypothesis, a Pearson correlation test was calculated to see the relationship between trust in social media and its use for sourcing. A positive correlation was found (r (117) = .23, p = .012) between trust in social media and its use for sourcing. This result indicates that those journalists putting more trust in social media are more likely to use it for sourcing purposes, and those putting less trust in social media are less likely to use for sourcing purposes. Thus, H4a is supported by the results.

H4b: The higher the trust of journalists in social media, the higher the use of social media will be for verification by journalists.

To test this hypothesis, a Pearson correlation test was calculated to see the relationship between trust on social media and its use for verification. A positive correlation was found (r (133) = .31, p <.001) between trust on social media and its use for verification of information. The result indicates that those journalists who put more trust in social media are more likely to use it for verification purposes, and those journalists who put less trust in social media are less likely to use it for verification purposes. Thus, H4b is supported by the results.

H5a: Journalists who perceive themselves to be more skillful in using social media will use it more for sourcing.

To test this hypothesis, an independent-samples t-test was run to compare the means of those who reported themselves to be highly skillful in using social media and those who reported themselves as lower or medium in skills for using social media. Skill level was measured using nominal variables, t-test is suitable to see the differences between two groups. The participants were divided into two groups, the first group was those journalists who reported to be highly skilled in using social media (n = 42), second group was those journalists who reported themselves to be low level or medium level skilled (n = 78). For social media sourcing, no significant difference was found (t (118) = -.676, p = .5). The means of journalists who consider themselves highly skilled in using social media (M = 4.45, sd = 1.25) were not significantly different from those who reported to be less skilled (M = 4.59, sd = .97). Thus, H7a is not supported by results.

H5b: Journalists who perceive themselves to be more skillful in using social media will use it more for verification.

To test this hypothesis, an independent-samples t-test was run to compare the means of those who reported being highly skilled (n = 48) with those who reported being lower or medium in skills (n = 86). The t-test was suitable because skills level was measured using nominal variables. For verification from social media, no significant difference was found (t (132) = .010, p = .99). The means of journalists who considered themselves highly skilled in using social media (M = 4.04, sd = 1.01) were not significantly different from those who reported to be less skilled (M = 4.04, sd = 1.34). Thus, H7b is not supported.

H6a: The higher the age of journalists, the less likely they will use social media for sourcing.

To test this hypothesis, a Pearson correlation test was run to see the relationship between age and use of social media for sourcing. A negative but not significant relationship was found (r (116) = -.029, p = .759) between age and sourcing from social media. Thus, H6a is not supported.

H6b: The higher the age of journalists, the less likely they will use social media for verification.

To test this hypothesis, a Pearson correlation test was run to see the relationship between age and verification from social media. A negative but not significant relationship was found (r (130) = -.062, p = .478) between age and verification from social media. Thus, H6b is not supported by results.

Chapter V: Discussion

This study aimed at bringing insights into journalistic practices in Pakistan regarding use of social media for sourcing and verification purposes. As many scholarly works have indicated the adoption of social media in news production process and its use for information gathering (e.g., Heravi & Harrower, 2016; Johnston et al., 2019; Larsen, 2017; Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016; Lysak et al., 2012; Weaver & Willnat, 2016), this study attempted to investigate the journalistic practices in a changing news ecosystem in a non-Western context. There is a lack of studies in non-Western countries regarding the use of social media for sourcing and verification purposes. This study will add to media sociology literature from a non-Western context.

Overall journalists in Pakistan have shown a heavy reliance on social media for sourcing purposes and use several social network sites to gather information and follow sources. A greater reliance on social media for sourcing can result in shifting power from gatekeepers to sources because this increase in reliance for sourcing can increase the role of sources in agenda setting. Shoemaker and Reese (2014) described the effects of extra-media factors on news, and in the case of social media it can have an effect in two forms. First, a greater reliance on social media for sourcing will affect the agenda setting because journalists might choose what to include based on the prevalent information on social media, and sources they follow on social media. Second, by taking information from social media, journalists do not have the means to negotiate with the sources. In other words, journalists do not have the power to ask questions, argue, or cross-check information which they have in traditional ways of newsgathering such as a press conference. Journalists will be more on receiving end. Information available on social media platforms and sources on these social networking sites may affect the agenda setting, as

Parmelee (2014) found effects of politician's tweets and their subsequent effect on selection of sources for interviews by journalists.

Inclusion of social media in daily routines can affect the journalistic practices, the choices journalists make, the content they produce, defining what is newsworthy and what it not, and prioritization of an item (Cottle & Ashton, 1999; Shoemaker & Reese, 2014; Shoemaker & Vos, 2009; Tuchman, 1977; Tuchman, 1978). Shoemaker and Vos (2009) wrote how use of technology can affect the gatekeeping process, and with more use of social media for sourcing, more information obtained from social media will pass through the gates.

More than 80% of the respondents reported using Twitter for sourcing, and more than 60% reported using Facebook for sourcing, but having said that, journalists do not solely rely on social media sources and tend to add other sources to corroborate what they find on social media to complete their stories. More than 75% of the respondents reported that they do not use social media as the only source for their news stories and they tend to include other sources as well. This is an indication that social media is being adopted by journalists for sourcing, but it is not displacing other methods of sourcing. Previous studies have found similar results where social media is being integrated into news production processes, but journalists still gravitate towards traditional routines and official sources, meaning this adoption is still in transitional phase (e.g., Heravi & Harrower, 2016; Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016; Moon & Hadley, 2014; Zhang & Li, 2020).

By using Hierarchy of Influences, this study attempted to highlight the most influential factors in use of popular social media platforms for sourcing purposes. From the four regression models, it was interesting to note how different concepts from the Hierarchy of Influence model affect the use of different social media platforms. Routines become the only significant predictor

from Hierarchy of Influences for use of Twitter for sourcing purposes. This indicates that journalists use Twitter in their daily routines and rely on it for newsgathering and other sourcing purposes. It seems that journalists find valuable and newsworthy information on Twitter, and they use it in their favor to complete their job. As many sources, such as politicians, use Twitter for posting information, journalists have adopted the use of Twitter in their daily news activities. Twitter seemed to be routinized by Pakistani journalists and routines for other popular social media platforms did not become significant.

For Facebook, policy and reward at organizational level and skills at individual level were significant predictors for its use for sourcing purposes. For Instagram, policy and reward were significant predictors for its use for sourcing. It suggests that those journalists working with organizations that have a policy or set of guidelines for using social media and encouraged their employees and rewarded them tend to consult Facebook and Instagram more for sourcing. This indicates an organizational influence on journalists where organizational policies and actions of the supervisors affected the choices and routines of journalists regarding social media use for sourcing. For Facebook, skills in using social media was a factor at individual level of influences which predicted its use for sourcing purposes. Other than the skills, no other variable at individual level was significant for any of the popular social media platforms. The results about skill level are similar to what previous studies have found (e.g., Heravi & Harrower, 2016).

In television and online news environment journalists are constantly under workload pressures which resulted in increased use of social media for sourcing purposes by Pakistani journalists because these platforms provide an easy access to information with less cost (Shoemaker & Reese, 2014). Breaking-news scenarios are similar conditions when journalists

face added workload pressure. Those journalists facing more breaking news reported using more social media for sourcing than those who face less breaking-news.

Gandy (1982) suggested that journalists may tend to use conveniently available information due to time pressures and deadlines. The results have indicated that journalists in Pakistan are using social media as an information subsidy because it provides a convenient way of information gathering, requires no extra resource allocation, and make it more economically viable (Gandy, 1982). At the core of the concept of information subsidy is the purpose to influence the actions of others (Gandy, 1982), the use of social media as information subsidy by Pakistani journalists can result in significant shift of power from journalists to the sources in shaping the news (e.g., Heim, 2021). Shoemaker and Vos (2009) described the relationship between gatekeeper and sources as mutually beneficial. In the case of using media for sourcing, gatekeepers are at the receiving end which creates an imbalance between this mutually beneficial relationship. Sources make access to information easy by posting on social media platforms and journalists and media organizations get into a race who will broadcast it first. By doing this, the originator of information gets media space and easily avoids accountability. This puts sources in more control of agenda setting which can compromise professional journalistic standards. The results have indicated that journalists heavily rely on social media for sourcing in their daily routines and they also do it to save cost, time, and to increase the efficiency in performing their job. Journalists are using information provided on social media as a subsidy and this practice has become a routine. Chibnall (1997), and Shoemaker and Vos (2009) argued about how the news is already shaped passing through different gates before it reaches the gatekeepers. A greater reliance on social media for sourcing will result in more frequent influence on the content. The more journalists rely on information subsidies available on social media, the more control

sources will wield in building the media agenda. There are several factors identified by scholars such as role of workload, time constraints, and cost which can push journalists to rely on convenient ways of information gathering (Bane, 2019; Heim, 2021; Larsen, 2017; Moon & Hadley, 2014; Zhang & Li, 2020). Information available on social media makes it an attractive place where journalists may tend to attend it and subsequently use it in their news to ease the workload, complete a story quickly, and make information gathering less costly. This study suggests a theoretical connection between Hierarchy of Influences model and information subsidy. But there is a downside of this approach of using social media as an information subsidy in daily routines, and that is losing control of the role of agenda setters. Journalists in Pakistan may have routinized the use of social media as an information subsidy unknowingly, but this can result in losing control over agenda-setting.

A comparison was made between types of news journalists cover and social media use for sourcing and verification. There was no difference found in the use of social media for sourcing and verification purposes between journalists covering soft news and hard news. This result was contrary to what previous research has found (e.g., Heravi & Harrower, 2016; Lecheler & Kruikemeier, 2016). A reason for this contradiction can be a lack of a clear demarcation between job assignments and journalists might be covering some news outside of their primary beats.

This study also investigated if journalists use social media for verifying information. More than 70% reported using Twitter for verification purposes which is considerably higher use as compared to other social media platforms. More than 40% of the respondents use Facebook and YouTube for verification purposes. Twitter stands out in social media platforms where journalists go to cross-check and verify the information they have. The findings for using

Facebook, YouTube, and Instagram for verification are similar to previous studies (e.g., Heravi & Harrower, 2016, Zhang & Li, 2020), but results about Twitter are different. Almost three quarters of the respondents reported using Twitter for verification purposes. Heavy reliance on Twitter for verification can displace the traditional methods of verification. Journalists' lack of skills to cope with challenge of fake news on online platforms can also have implications for journalism. The presence of verified accounts cannot guarantee the accuracy of information.

Overall journalists use social media for sourcing, and it becomes important to know how journalists verify the information found online. Journalists in Pakistan used all five categories developed by Brandtzaeg et al. (2016) for verifying online information. Journalists reported following the trusted sources, resorting to accessing eyewitnesses and authenticating sources, using traditional journalistic methods for verify information, using technological tools, and using workaround methods. Journalists in Pakistan verify social media information remaining within the social media networks by trying to access eyewitnesses and authenticating sources of information and by going outside the social media by using traditional journalistic approaches and other digital tools available for verifying the online content. This result is similar to what Heravi and Harrower (2016), and Zhang and Li (2020) found in their studies. The findings about following trusted sources on social media to get authentic information are also similar to what previous studies have found (e.g., Heim, 2021; Paulussen & Harder, 2014).

The attitude of journalists also played a key role in adoption of social media for sourcing and verification purposes. Those journalists having a positive attitude towards social media tend to use it more for sourcing and verification purposes. This result was similar to what other researchers have found (e.g., Weaver & Willnat, 2016). In addition, those journalists who use social media for sourcing use it more for verification purposes as well (e.g., Zhang & Li, 2020).

Trust also played a key role in adoption of social media for sourcing and verification where journalists putting more trust on social media tend to use it more for sourcing and verification (e.g., Zhang & Li, 2020). For verification purposes, most of the journalists reported relying on Twitter and its use was considerably higher than other social media platforms.

There are limitations to this study which can be helpful for the future investigation of journalistic practices in Pakistan. This study applied four levels of Hierarchy of Influences model; a future study can investigate social system as a factor influencing use of social media for sourcing. A purposive sampling was used after the refusal from news organizations to share the data of their employees due to organizational policies. A random sampling could have less sampling error and results could be more generalizable to the population. Previous scholarship using Hierarchy of Influences did not provide measures to test it for social media sourcing, the author developed new measures and reliability of some of the measures was low. But these measures can help future studies to investigate social media sourcing in different contexts.

The list of social media platforms provided in the survey was not exhaustive. As many of the respondents reported using other social media platforms, a future study can be conducted to know what the other social media platforms journalists are using for sourcing and verification purposes. From the measure of verification strategies, one indicator related to the category of trusted sources was removed due to language error. The sample in this study mainly included journalists working for television news channel, whereas in future studies, a sample could be drawn from newspapers and their online news website which can enable a comparison between the media type and use of social media for sourcing and verification. For more future studies, a different methodology can be adopted, for example, conducting in-depth interviews with

reporters and newsroom staff to get more insights into their use of social media for sourcing and verification practices.

Chapter VI: Conclusion

This study has contributed to the knowledge about the impact of social media on journalistic practices with regard to sourcing and verification in a non-Western context. The study shows that journalists have adopted social media platforms for sourcing purposes with Twitter being consulted the most for information gathering and verification. It also added knowledge to the media sociology theory by investigating the best predictors for use of social media for sourcing using the Hierarchy of Influences model. Routines were best predictors for use of Twitter for sourcing, organizational policy and reward, and skills were best predictors for use of Facebook for sourcing, and organizational policy and reward were best predictors for use of Instagram for sourcing. This means that sourcing from different social media platforms is affected by different levels of Hierarchy of Influences. In other words, a concept influencing Twitter use for sourcing may not affect Facebook use for sourcing and vice versa.

It is noteworthy that social media is integrated into journalistic practices for sourcing and verification but not completely replacing the traditional methods. Journalists rely on social media to increase their access to sources, but they do not solely rely on social media. Journalists tend to corroborate information obtained from social media platforms with references obtained through traditional methods, signifying the complimentary nature of social media use. For journalists, social media serve as an extension to traditional methods, and they use it to increase their access to sources and to get help in verifying information. Twitter stands out in all the social media platforms and most of the journalists reported using it for sourcing and verification purposes. Journalists tend to remain within social media and go out of social networking sites to verify information they find online. Attitudes towards social media and trust play a key role in its increased use for sourcing and verification.

The workload pressures and breaking-news scenarios also contribute to the increased use of social media for sourcing. This gives more credence to the use of social media as an information subsidy where journalists get easy access to information which saves time and cost. This can have a significant effect on journalistic practices where journalists facing workload pressures might not get enough time to further investigate the authenticity of the information and verify it from other real-world sources, consequently, ending up relying on social media for gathering facts. This effect can exacerbate in the long run because more reliance on social media for sourcing has a positive correlation with its use for verification.

Hermida (2013) noted the effects hybridity of old and new approaches on journalistic norms. The reliance on social media for sourcing and verification can pose multiple challenges for journalists. Sources are important for journalists for construction of social reality, but more reliance on social media sourcing can shift the power of agenda setting from journalists towards sources. On social media, sources would be able to set the agenda without even encountering the press. More reliance on social media for sourcing and verification means more frequent influence on the content journalists produce. The relationship between journalists and their sources will become more vertical rather than horizontal or mutually beneficial limiting the negotiation between both to construct the social reality. Though journalists use social media as an extension to traditional methods for sourcing and verification, in the presence of fake news in an online environment journalist needs to be cautious about the value and reliability of online information. In addition, journalists need to consider the effects of their "following" behavior on the content they produce and the sources they use in their reporting.

References

- All Pakistan Newspapers Society. (n.d). Member publications. Retrieved June 26, 2023, from https://www.apns.com.pk/member_publication/index.php/
- Backholm, K., Ausserhofer, J., Frey, E., Larsen, A. G., Hornmoen, H., Högväg, J., & Reimerth, G. (2017). Crises, rumours and reposts: Journalists' social media content gathering and verification practices in breaking news situations. *Media and Communication*, 5(2), 67-76. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.v5i2.878
- Bane, K. C. (2019). Tweeting the agenda: How print and alternative web-only news organizations use Twitter as a source. *Journalism Practice*, *12*(2), 191-205. https://doi.org/10.1080/17512786.2017.1413587
- Boczkowski, P. J. (2009). Rethinking hard and soft news production: From common ground to divergent paths. *Journal of Communication*, *59*(1), 98–116. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2008.01406.x
- Bouvier, G. (2019). How journalists source trending social media feeds. *Journalism Studies*, 20(2), 212-231. https://doi.org/10.1080/1461670x.2017.1365618
- Brandtzaeg, P. B., Følstad, A., & Chaparro Domínguez, M. Á. (2018). How journalists and social media users perceive online fact-checking and verification services. *Journalism Practice*, *12*(9), 1109-1129. https://doi.org/10.1080/17512786.2017.1363657
- Brandtzaeg, P. B., Lüders, M., Spangenberg, J., Rath-Wiggins, L., & Følstad, A. (2016). Emerging journalistic verification practices concerning social media. *Journalism Practice*, 10(3), 323-342. https://doi.org/10.1080/17512786.2015.1020331

- Carlson, M. (2018). Facebook in the news: Social media, journalism, and public responsibility following the 2016 trending topics controversy. *Digital Journalism*, 6(1), 4-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2017.1298044
- Chibnall, S. (1975). The crime reporter: A study in the production of commercial knowledge. Sociology, 9(1), 49-66. https://doi.org/10.1177/003803857500900103
- Chibnall, S. (1977). Law-and-order news: An analysis of crime reporting in the British press.

 Tavistock.
- Cook, T. E. (2006). The news media as a political institution: Looking backward and looking forward. *Political Communication*, *23*(2), 159-171. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584600600629711
- Cottle, S., & Ashton, M. (1999). From BBC Newsroom to BBC Newscentre: On Changing

 Technology and journalist practices. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, 5(3), 22–43. https://doi.org/10.1177/135485659900500304
- Deprez, A., & Van Leuven, S. (2018). About pseudo quarrels and trustworthiness. *Journalism Studies*, 19(9), 1257-1274. https://doi.org/10.1080/1461670x.2016.1266910
- Dylko, I. B., Beam, M. A., Landreville, K. D., & Geidner, N. (2011). Filtering 2008 US presidential election news on YouTube by elites and nonelites: An examination of the democratizing potential of the internet. *New Media & Society*, 14(5), 832-849. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444811428899
- Fletcher, R., Schifferes, S., & Thurman, N. (2017). Building the 'Truthmeter': Training algorithms to help journalists assess the credibility of social media sources. *Convergence:*The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies, 26(1), 1934. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856517714955

- Gallup. (2012, October). *Gallup Pakistan media cyberletter*. https://gallup.com.pk/bb_old_site/News/TAM%20Cyberletter.pdf
- Gandy, O. H. (1982). Beyond agenda setting: Information subsidies and public policy. Ablex.
- Gul, M., Obaid, Z., & Ali, S. (2017). Liberalization of media in Pakistan: A challenge to democracy. *The Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 25(1). http://ojs.uop.edu.pk/jhss/article/view/650
- Gulyas, A. (2013). The influence of professional variables on journalists' uses and views of social media. *Digital Journalism*, 1(2), 270-285. https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2012.744559
- Gulyas, A. (2017). Hybridity and social media adoption by journalists: An international comparison. *Digital Journalism*, *5*(7), 884-902. https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2016.1232170
- Heim, K. (2021). Tweets and source diversity: Newspapers' sourcing of Twitter posts from 2009 to 2016. *Mass Communication and Society*, 24(3), 394-417. https://doi.org/10.1080/15205436.2021.1883063
- Heravi, B. R., & Harrower, N. (2016). Twitter journalism in Ireland: Sourcing and trust in the age of social media. *Information, Communication & Society*, 19(9), 1194-1213. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118x.2016.1187649
- Hermida, A. (2012). Social journalism: Exploring how social media is shaping journalism. In E. Siapera & A. Veglis (Eds.), *The Handbook of Global Online Journalism* (pp. 309–328). essay, Wiley-Blackwell.

- Hermida, A. (2013). #Journalism: Reconfiguring journalism research about Twitter, one tweet at a time. *Digital Journalism*, 1(3), 295-
 - 313. https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2013.808456

International Press Institute. (2023). Press freedom violations in Pakistan.

censorship/

- Hirsh, P. M. (1977). Occupational, organizational, and institutional models in mass mediaresearch: Toward an integrated framework. In P. M. Hirsh, P. V. Miller, & F. G. Kline(Eds.), Strategies for communication research (pp. 13-42). essay, Sage.
- Hodgson, F. W. (1996). Modern newspaper practice: A primer on the press (4th ed.). Routledge.
- https://www.ipi.media/pakistan-journalists-face-violent-attacks-judicial-harrassment-
- Johnson, M., Paulussen, S., & Aelst, P. V. (2019). The manifest and latent functions of Twitter use by journalists: An observational study among economic journalists. *Journal of Applied Journalism & Media Studies*, 8(3), 311-329. https://doi.org/10.1386/ajms_00004_1
- Knight, M. (2012). Journalism as usual: The use of social media as a newsgathering tool in the coverage of the Iranian elections in 2009. *Journal of Media Practice*, 13(1), 61-74. https://doi.org/10.1386/jmpr.13.1.61_1
- Kovach, B., & Rosenstiel, T. (2021). The elements of journalism (4th ed.). Crown.
- Larsen, A. G. (2017). Investigative reporting in the networked media environment. *Journalism Practice*, 11(10), 1231-1245. https://doi.org/10.1080/17512786.2016.1262214
- Lecheler, S., & Kruikemeier, S. (2016). Re-evaluating journalistic routines in a digital age: A review of research on the use of online sources. *New Media & Society*, *18*(1), 156-171. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444815600412

- Livingston, S., & Bennett, W. L. (2003). Gatekeeping, indexing, and live-event news: Is technology altering the construction of news? *Political Communication*, 20(4), 363–380. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584600390244121
- Lysak, S., Cremedas, M., & Wolf, J. (2012). Facebook and Twitter in the newsroom: How and why local television news is getting social with viewers? *Electronic News*, 6(4), 187-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1931243112466095
- Mezzera, M., & Sial, S. (2010). Media and governance in Pakistan: A controversial yet essential relationship. Initiative for Peacebuilding.

 https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/20101109_CRU_publicatie_mmezzer a.pdf
- Moon, S. J., & Hadley, P. (2014). Routinizing a new technology in the newsroom: Twitter as a news source in mainstream media. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 58(2), 289-305. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2014.906435
- Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority. (2020). Annual report.

 https://www.pemra.gov.pk/uploads/pub-rep/pemra_annual_report_19-20.pdf
- Parmelee, J. H. (2014). The agenda-building function of political tweets. *New Media & Society*, *16*(3), 434-450. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444813487955
- Paulussen, S., & Harder, R. A. (2014). Social media references in newspapers. *Journalism Practice*, 8(5), 542-551. https://doi.org/10.1080/17512786.2014.894327
- Rasul, A., & Proffitt, J. M. (2013). Diversity of homogeny: Concentration of ownership and media diversity in Pakistan. *Asian Journal of Communication*, *23*(6), 590-604. https://doi.org/10.1080/01292986.2013.805797

- Rauchfleisch, A., Artho, X., Metag, J., Post, S., & Schäfer, M. S. (2017). How journalists verify user-generated content during terrorist crises. Analyzing Twitter communication during the Brussels attacks. *Social Media + Society*, *3*(3), 205630511771788. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305117717888
- Reporters Without Borders. (2023). Pakistan. Retrieved June 30, 2023, from https://www.rsf.org/en/country/pakistan/
- Shoemaker, P. J., & Reese, S. D. (1996). *Mediating the message: Theories of influences on mass media content* (2nd ed.). Longman.
- Shoemaker, P. J., & Reese, S. D. (2014). *Mediating the message in the 21st century: A media sociology perspective* (3rd ed.). Routledge.
- Shoemaker, P. J., & Vos, T. P. (2009). *Gatekeeping theory*. Routledge.
- Siraj, S. A., & Hussain, S. (2017). Critical analysis of journalistic autonomy in Pakistan. *FWU Journal of Social Sciences*, *11*(1), 103-114.

 https://www.sbbwu.edu.pk/journal/WU_Journal_of_Social_Sciences_Summer_2017_V
 ol_11_NO_1/11%20Critical%20Analysis%20of%%20Journalistic%20Autonomy%20in
- Tuchman, G. (1977). The exception proves the rule: The study of routine news practices. In P. Hirsch, P. Miller, & F. G. Kline (Eds.), *Strategies for communication research* (pp. 43-62), Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Tuchman, G. (1978). The news net. *Social Research*, 45(2), 253–276. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40970332

%20Pakistan.pdf

- Weaver, D. H., & Willnat, L. (2016). Changes in U.S. journalism: How do journalists think about social media? *Journalism Practice*, 10(7), 844-855. https://doi.org/10.1080/17512786.2016.1171162
- Whitney, D. C. (1981). Information overload in the newsroom. *Journalism Quarterly*, 58(1), 69-161. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769908105800111
- Xu, N., & Gutsche, R. E. (2020). "Going offline": Social media, source verification, and Chinese investigative journalism during "Information overload". *Journalism Practice*, 15(8), 1146-1162. https://doi.org/10.1080/17512786.2020.1776142
- Yusuf, H., & Schoemaker, E. (2013). The media of Pakistan: Fostering inclusion in a fragile democracy? BBC Media Action.

 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08a0a40ff0b649740003be/bbc_media_action_pakistan_policy_briefing.pdf/
- Zhang, X., & Li, W. (2020). From social media with news: Journalists' social media use for sourcing and verification. *Journalism Practice*, 14(10), 1193-1210. doi:10.1080/17512786.2019.1689372

Appendix

Survey instrument used to measure responses from Pakistani journalists.

Q1: Rate your level of agreement from strongly disagree (1) to Strongly agree (7) for the following statement.

I use Twitter for news sourcing.

I use Facebook for news sourcing.

I use YouTube for news sourcing.

I use Instagram for news sourcing.

I use other social media platforms for news sourcing.

Q2: Rate your level of agreement from strongly disagree (1) to Strongly agree (7) for the following statement.

I use Twitter as the only source in news.

I use Facebook as the only source in news.

I use YouTube as the only source in news.

I use Instagram as the only source in news.

I use social media platforms as the only source in news.

Q3: Rate your level of agreement from strongly disagree (1) to Strongly agree (7) for the following statement.

Social media help me to complete my job efficiently.

Social media help me to complete my job effectively.

I am dependent on social media for my journalism.

I find it hard to complete my story without getting information from social media.

Social media add value to my journalism.

Social media help in adding background information to the news.

I use social media for verification of information.

Social media help in reporting accurate information.

Social media skills increase my professional worth.

Social media skills increase my value as journalist.

Social media help in identifying important events.

Social media help in identifying stories that public are interested in.

Social media help in identifying stories that need urgent attention.

Social media help in identifying stories which are more related to audiences.

Social media provide me an easy access to information.

Using social media for news help me complete my job in less time.

Social media help me break news before competitor news organizations.

Journalists in my organization have become too reliant on social media for their work.

Social media often have inaccurate information.

Social media have contributed to factual errors in my news.

Q4: Rate your level of agreement from strongly disagree (1) to Strongly agree (7) for the following statement.

My organization has a policy that guides me on how to use social media in my journalism.

My organization encourages the use of social media in my journalism.

My organization has rules which restrict the use of social media.

My organization rewards journalists who use social media to improve their journalism.

My organization has designated people whose primary job is to monitor social media for newsgathering.

My supervisors discourage the use of social media for journalism.

I have freedom to use social media for my journalism the way I see fit.

Social media have decreased the cost of newsgathering for my organizations.

The economic crisis in the media industry has caused an increase in social media use for journalism.

My organization relies on social media more for international news than local news.

Q5: Rate your level of agreement from strongly disagree (1) to Strongly agree (7) for the following statement.

I find my primary sources more easily on social media as compared to other methods.

I find official sources more easily on social media as compared to other methods.

Social media help me identifying important sources for my journalism.

Social media expand my network of sources.

My primary sources prefer I contact them through social media more than other channels.

My primary sources prefer to use social media to respond to my interview questions.

I find information from official sources available on social media authentic.

I find information from official sources available on social media correct.

Social media has increased the visibility of official sources in journalism.

Social media has increased the visibility of the country's institutional sources in journalism.

Official sources on social media help in providing background information for my journalism.

The country's institutional sources on social media help in providing background information for my journalism.

I use the information from official sources available on social media as it is.

Information provided by the country's institutions on social media does not require changes before including it in my journalism.

I do not cross-check information obtained from social media platforms of official sources.

I use social media in my journalism because competitor media organizations use them.

If another media organization breaks some news, I use social media to find that news.

I use social media to keep an eye on other media organizations.

The competition in the media market has increased the use of social media for journalism.

Social media has become a need for news organizations.

By not using social media, I might miss out on important news.

Social media is necessary to remain in competition.

Not using social media can result in losing the audience.

Q6: Rate your level of agreement from strongly disagree (1) to Strongly agree (7) for the following statement.

I use Twitter for verification of information.

I use Facebook for verification of information.

I use YouTube for verification of information.

I use Instagram for verification of information.

I use other than above mentioned social media platforms for verification of information.

Q7: Rate your level of agreement from strongly disagree (1) to Strongly agree (7) for the following statement.

I cross-check social media content from national and international news agencies and other trusted news outlets.

I only use information from social media sources I know.

I only use information from verified accounts on social media.

I try to contact the eyewitnesses of an event from social media.

I cross-check social media content using Google search.

I look at social media accounts and try to identify the source of information.

I check other credible news organizations to see if they have reported the same information which I found on social media.

I cross-check social media content from the concerned persons by calling them by phone.

I cross-check social media information from the concerned persons in face-to-face interaction.

I cross-check social media information by emailing the concerned persons.

I rely on journalistic common sense to evaluate the truthfulness of social media content.

I use digital tools for verification of photos on social media.

I use digital tools for verification of videos on social media.

I put a disclaimer on unverified information when I include it in my news.

Q8: Rate your level of agreement from strongly disagree (1) to Strongly agree (7) for the following statement.

Social media have a positive impact on my work.

I consider social media credible for journalistic purposes.

I trust social media to use in my journalism.

Social media have an overall positive impact on journalism.

Q9: Rate your level of agreement from strongly disagree (1) to Strongly agree (7) for the following statement.

I often face breaking-news scenarios.

I often feel pressure from the workload.

I meet multiple deadlines every day.

I work on multiple stories at the same time.

Q10: Which organization you work for?

Q11: What is the media type you primarily work for?

Q12: What is your role in the organization?

Q13: If you are a reporter, what beat do you cover?

Q14: State the number of years of your journalism experience.

Q15: How would you rate yourself in skills for using social media?

Q16: What is your gender?

Q17: What is your age?

Q18: What is your highest education level?

Q19: Is your highest level of education in journalism?